Research Report Research Project T1803, Task 37 Service Patrol

EVALUATION OF THE SERVICE PATROL PROGRAM IN THE PUGET SOUND REGION

by

Jennifer Nee Research Engineer Mark E. Hallenbeck Director

Washington State Transportation Center (TRAC) University of Washington, Box 354802 University District Building 1107 NE 45th Street, Suite 535 Seattle, Washington 98105-4631

Washington State Department of Transportation Technical Monitor Gerald W. Althauser Maintenance/IRT Supervisor, Northwest Region

Prepared for

Washington State Transportation Commission Department of Transportation and in cooperation with U.S. Department of Transportation Federal Highway Administration

September 2001

1 REPORT NO	2 GOVERNMENT ACCESSION NO	3 RECIPIENT'S CATALOG NO		
I. REFORT NO.	2. GOVERNMENT ACCESSION NO.	5. RECILENTS CATALOG NO.		
WA-RD 518.1				
4. TITLE AND SUBTITLE		5. REPORT DATE		
Evaluation of the Service Patrol Prog	om in the Duget Sound	Santambar 2001		
Evaluation of the Service Fation Flog	ani in the Fuget Sound			
Region		0. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION CODE		
7. AUTHOR(S)		8. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION REPORT NO.		
Jennifer Nee and Mark E. Hallenbeck				
9. PERFORMING ORGANIZATION NAME AND ADDRESS		10. WORK UNIT NO.		
Washington State Transportation Cen	ter (TRAC)			
University of Washington Box 3548	\mathbf{n}_{2}	11. CONTRACT OR GRANT NO.		
University District Duilding: 1107 NI	7 15th Street Swite 525	A groom out T1902 Task 27		
University District Building, 110/ Nr	2 45th Sheet, Suite 555	Agreement 11805, 1ask 57		
Seattle, Washington 98105-4631				
12. SPONSORING AGENCY NAME AND ADDRESS		13. TYPE OF REPORT AND PERIOD COVERED		
Research Office		Research report		
Washington State Department of Trai	nsportation			
Transportation Building, MS 47370				
Olympia, Washington 98504-7370		14. SPONSORING AGENCY CODE		
Gary Ray, Project Manager, 360-705.	7975			
15 SUPPLEMENTARY NOTES	-1715			
This study was conducted in cooperat	ion with the U.S. Departme	nt of Transportation, Federal Highway		
Administration.				
10. ABSTRACT				

The Service Patrol pilot demonstration in Seattle and Tacoma was managed by the Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT) and operated by Washington State Patrol (WSP) cadets and contracted registered tow truck operators (RTTOs). Two other roving services, not funded as part of this pilot effort but included to a limited extent in this evaluation, were the roving patrol service provided by WSDOT on the SR 520 and I-90 floating bridges and the privately sponsored motor assistance vehicle from AAA's RescueVan.

The evaluation examines how the similarities and differences among the different service delivery modes (e.g., the intensity of deployment, equipment choices, service delivery, costs) affect the impact of the Service Patrol operation on traffic conditions (e.g., reductions in delay) and the level of motorist satisfaction. This report also discusses feedback by the agencies participating in the Service Patrol program on institutional and operational issues that contribute to or hinder the success of the program. Operational characteristics and operating statistics are reported to convey factors that describe program effectiveness.

The results of the study indicate that the use of a combination of service providers has benefits that no single provider can duplicate, and the cost implications of changing the program are small enough that any potential savings would be fairly minor. The pilot project resulted in a variety of intangible benefits, such as improved interagency coordination and cooperation, more efficient utilization of personnel, and a better understanding of each partner's roles and contributions toward congestion relief. The positive viewpoint toward the Service Patrol was uniform, regardless the service mode. Therefore, no significant changes to the existing pilot program are recommended at this time.

17. KEY WORDS		18. DISTRIBUTION STA	TEMENT	
Service patrols, incident response time, traffic delay, traffic safety		No restrictions. This document is available to the public through the National Technical Information Service, Springfield, VA 22616		
19. SECURITY CLASSIF. (of this report) 20. SECURITY CLASSIF. (of the second		is page)	21. NO. OF PAGES	22. PRICE
None	None			

DISCLAIMER

The contents of this report reflect the views of the authors, who are responsible for the facts and the accuracy of the data presented herein. The contents do not necessarily reflect the official views or policies of the Washington State Transportation Commission, Department of Transportation, or the Federal Highway Administration. This report does not constitute a standard, specification, or regulation

CONTENTS

CHAPTER 1. INTRODUCTION	1
Report Purpose	2
Service Patrol Pilot Implementation	2
Project Partners	2
Resources	3
Pilot Implementation	3
Roles and Responsibilities	5
Training	5
Project Management	6
Public Relations	6
Related Efforts	7
Report Organization	7
CHAPTER 2 RESEARCH APPROACH	8
Analysis of Incident Data	8
Comparison of Service Delivery Modes	9
Quantifying Benefit	9
Identifying Perceived Benefits	1
Conducting a Cost Analysis	1 2
Determination of Implementation Issues	$\frac{2}{2}$
	2
CHAPTER 3 OPERATIONAL CHARACTERISTICS 1'	3
Number of Motorist Contacts	2
Distribution by Time	5
Distribution by Location	5
Method of Detection and Notification	5
Frequency of False Alarms	5
Type of Incidents	5
I spe of incidents	Q Q
Lalie Diockage	0 0
Kesponse Time	0
CHAPTER 4. COMPARISON OF SERVICE DELIVERY MODES	1
Geographic Coverage of Service Areas	1
Service Hours	3
Training	3
Service Delivery	3
Public Attitudes Toward Different Modes of Service Delivery	5
Program Impact	6
Rating from the Public	6
Interagency Cooperation	8
Personnel Utilization	9
Reduced Incident Response Time	0
Cost Analysis	1

CHAPTER 5. IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES	44
Institutional Issues	44
Program Administration	44
Performance Accountability	45
Retaining Trained Employees	45
Operational Issues	46
Service Hours	46
Fuel Service	47
Technical Issues	49
Radio Equipment	49
Magnetic Service Patrol Signs	49
CHAPTER 6. CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS Conclusions Washington State Patrol	50 50
Registered Tow Truck Operators	51
Washington State Department of Transportation	52
American Automobile Association	52
Recommendations for Future Implementation	52
APPENDIX A. PROJECT PARTNERS CONTACT LIST	A-1
APPENDIX B. INFORMATION BROCHURE ON SERVICE PATROLS	B-1
APPENDIX C. SERVICE PATROL ASSIST FORM AND SURVEY	C-1

FIGURES

Figure	
Ĩ-1	Service Patrol Coverage
3-1a	Motorist Contacts by Location and Mode
3-1b	Motorist Contacts Per Patrol Unit
3-2	Distribution of Incidents by Month
3-3a	Contacts vs. Monthly Traffic Volumes at Ship Canal Bridge, I-5
3-3b	Contacts vs. Monthly Traffic Volumes at University St., I-5
3-3c	Contacts vs. Monthly Traffic Volumes at Floating Bridges, I-90/SR 520.
3-4a	Contacts vs. 24-Hr Traffic Volumes at Ship Canal Bridge, I-5
3-4b	Contacts vs. 24-Hr Traffic Volumes at University St., I-5
3-4c	Contacts vs. 24-Hr Traffic Volumes at Floating Bridges, I-90 and SR 520
3-4d	Contacts vs. 24-Hr Traffic Volumes at NE 4 th /8 th St., I-405
3-4e	Contacts vs. 24-Hr Traffic Volumes at West End of Narrows Bridge, SR 16
3-4f	Contacts vs. 24-Hr Traffic Volumes at Tacoma, I-5
3-5a	Contacts by Location: I-5, Seattle, WSP Cadets
3-5b	Contacts by Location: I-5, Seattle, RTTO
3-5c	Contacts by Location: I-90, Seattle, WSDOT
3-5d	Contacts by Location: SR 520, Seattle, WSDOT
3-5e	Contacts by Location: I-5, Seattle, AAA
3-5f	Contacts by Location: SR 16, Tacoma, WSP Cadets
3-5g	Contacts by Location: I-5, Tacoma, RTTO
3-6	Method of Detection and Notification
3-7	Frequency of False Alarms
3-8	Distribution of Incidents by Type
3-9	Frequency of Abandoned Vehicles
3-10	Common Causes of Vehicle Disablement
4-1	Public Rating on Service
4-2	Public Awareness

TABLES

Table		Page
3-1	Level of Incident Response by Service Patrol	15
3-2	Incidents with Lane Blockage	29
3-3	Response Time for Lane Blocking Incidents	30
4-1	Differences Among Service Modes	32
4-2	Response Time Reduction for Lane Blocking Incidents	41
4-3	Program Cost Breakdown by Hour	42
4-4	Program Cost Breakdown by Contacts and Coverage Area	43
5-1	Fuel Service Demand	48

CHAPTER 1 INTRODUCTION

In 1998, the Service Patrol Study Steering Committee, which was initiated by the Washington State Legislative Transportation Committee (LTC) and formed in 1997, promoted the provision of additional towing services to improve incident removal from the most congested sections of Puget Sound area freeways. The primary goal of a Service Patrol is to provide quick response to incidents and clear roadways as rapidly as possible in high volume areas during peak traffic times. The Service Patrol Study Steering Committee, comprising representatives from the Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT), Washington State Patrol (WSP), Washington Insurance Council, and Washington State Tow Truck Association (WTTA), reviewed current incident response services, relevant statistical history, and similar past programs in the Puget Sound and in other major metropolitan cities. This review revealed that Service Patrols around the country had been estimated to produce benefit to cost ratios that ranged from 7:1 to 36:1.1 A recent WSDOT Incident Response Team (IRT) program evaluation showed an estimated benefit to cost ratio of between 4:1 and 13:1.² Another evaluation of Service Patrols operated by the WSP and WTTA in the Puget Sound area for two weeks during the 1990 Goodwill Games indicated that quick response operations were effective at reducing response and clearance times and received positive public feedback.³ On the basis of the gathered information, the committee recommended the deployment of roving Service Patrols to allow a qualified service provider to rapidly

¹ Morris, M., and W. Lee. *Survey of Efforts to Evaluate Freeway Service Patrol*, Transportation Research Record 1446, TRB, National Research Council, Washington, D.C., 1994.

² Nam, Doohee, Fred L. Mannering, Jodi L. Carson, and Jennifer Nee, *Washington's Incident Response Team Program Evaluation*. Washington State Department of Transportation, May 1997.

³ Mannering, Fred L. and Mark Hallenbeck, *Incident Management Systems Framework – Impacts of Service Patrol*, Washington State Department of Transportation, March 1991.

respond to disabled vehicles, remove them and their occupants to a safe area, remove minor debris, and resolve other problems.⁴ The committee also recommended an evaluation to determine and compare the effectiveness of the service modes, namely, the WSP cadets, contracted tow operators, WSDOT tow trucks operated on the floating bridges, and privately sponsored motor assistance vehicles such as that of the American Auto Association (AAA).

REPORT PURPOSE

The purpose of this report is to examine different methods of service delivery and to provide lessons learned for future implementation. The findings from the evaluation are intended to inform future decisions about continued service.

The evaluation examines how the similarities and differences among the different service delivery modes (e.g., the intensity of deployment, equipment choices, service delivery, costs) affect the impact of the Service Patrol operation on traffic conditions (e.g., reductions in delay) and the level of motorist satisfaction. This report also discusses feedback by the agencies participating in the Service Patrol program on institutional and operational issues that contribute to or hinder the success of the program. Operational characteristics and operating statistics are reported to convey factors that describe program effectiveness. Finally, public opinions about the quality of service and the desirability of the program are presented.

SERVICE PATROL PILOT IMPLEMENTATION

Project Partners

The Service Patrol pilot demonstration involved both public/public and public/private partnerships. The freeway patrol service was managed by the WSDOT

⁴ Service Patrol Study – Greater Puget Sound Freeway System, Washington State Department of Transportation, Report to the Legislative Transportation Committee, January 14, 1998.

and operated by

- Washington State Patrol cadets
- contracted registered tow truck operators (RTTOs).

Two other roving services, not funded as part of this pilot effort but included to a limited extent in this evaluation, were the roving patrol service provided by WSDOT on the SR 520 and I-90 floating bridges and the privately sponsored motor assistance vehicle from AAA's RescueVan. A list of representatives from the WSDOT, WSP, WTTA, participating RTTOs, and AAA is provided in Appendix A.

Resources

The pilot program was funded with state dollars. The \$600,000 Pilot spending plan distributed \$174,000 for WSP cadets and \$370,000 for RTTOs. In addition to these direct expenses, WSDOT spent about \$16,000 of the pilot project funding to manage the RTTO contracts and to provide training and materials for both the RTTO and WSP efforts. In addition, \$40,000 of the \$600,000 pilot funding was dedicated to the evaluation effort.

Pilot Implementation

Figure 1-1 shows the service coverage provided by various service delivery modes. The Service Patrol funded by the pilot program continuously patrolled designated segments of highway during peak commute hours on weekdays from 6:00 AM to 10:00 AM and from 2:00 PM to 6:00 PM.

• WSP Cadet Patrols

Segments of the freeway patrolled by WSP cadets included northbound and southbound I-5 from Roanoke Street to 145th Street in Seattle, including all ramps, the express lanes, and collector/distributor roadways. In Tacoma, cadets patrolled westbound and eastbound SR 16, from the I-5 Interchange to Olympic Drive, including all ramps and collector/distributor roadways.



Figure 1-1. Service Patrol Coverage

Roving Tow Truck Patrols

Service Patrols operated by private contract towers were available in Seattle on I-5 between Corson-Michigan Street and Mercer Street. In Tacoma, they operated on I-5 between 38th Street and the Port of Tacoma Road in the morning, and in the afternoon between the SR 16 Interchange and the SR 512 Interchange.

The roving patrol service provided by the WSDOT on the SR 520 and I-90 floating bridges had a slightly different service schedule. The service hours were primarily during 5:30 AM and 9:30 AM and 1:30 PM and 6:30 PM. The AAA RescueVan patrolling between NE 195th and Renton on I-405 operated from 6:00 AM to 9:00 AM and from 3:30 PM to 7:00 PM.

Roles and Responsibilities

Puget Sound area Service Patrols locate, assist, and/or relocate a disabled vehicle in the traffic lane and/or shoulder on designated highway segments, as well as assist local public agencies or law enforcement authorities, as requested, with an accident or other emergency. Simple assistance, such as changing a tire, providing a jump start, or supplying fuel to "out-of-gas" vehicles, may be rendered on the highway shoulder. Otherwise, the Service Patrol will relocate the vehicle from the highway to the end of a ramp or to a nearby dedicated drop area. Once a vehicle is at a safe location clear of the roadway, motorists may request a tow—at their expense—or make their own arrangements for removal of their vehicle.

Training

A training session, jointly provided by the WSDOT, WSP, and WTTA, was provided for the RTTOs. The topics included the following:

- First aid by the WSDOT Safety Office
- Awareness of HazMat by the WSP Fire Protection Bureau

- Standard operating procedures (e.g., vehicle inspection, responsibility for service) – by a WSDOT operations supervisor
- Radio communications by a WSP Communications Supervisor
- Tow truck operations by WTTA trainers

The purpose of the training was to make sure all respondents understood their roles and responsibilities in keeping the traffic flowing while recognizing that safety was most important. Emphases included communication flow during operation for timely notification and response, as well as the importance of teamwork among the emergency responders.

WSP cadets were trained separately in-house to become Service Patrols because they would not operate tow-equipped vehicles. However, WSP cadets could attend portions of the training along with the RTTOs to ensure adequate coordination and mutual understanding of operating procedures. WSDOT's truck operators were also trained in-house for other WSDOT maintenance and emergency duties and traffic control. AAA's RescueVan was trained by its staff to perform minor vehicle maintenance.

Project Management

The project was managed by the WSDOT, with close interaction with each of the project stakeholders. Regular project status and coordination meetings were conducted to enhance coordination and understanding of project development among project partners (e.g., representatives from WSDOT, WSP, WTTA, participating RTTOs, and the independent evaluation team from the University of Washington). This mechanism provided an opportunity for project members to understand the project status, discuss problems encountered, and help steer the project in the right direction.

Public Relations

A media launch was held to kick off the pilot program. The program was covered by several local television stations (e.g., KOMO, King5 News, KIRO TV, Q13) and newspapers. The WSDOT also prepared a follow-up release to the media about the progress of the program. In addition, an information brochure regarding the purpose and the operation of the Service Patrol was prepared (see Appendix B).

Related Efforts

Concurrent efforts included the following:

- *WSDOT On-line Freeway Cameras and Traffic Flow Maps* Additional cameras have been installed in the Puget Sound area.
- WSDOT Incident Response Teams IRTs provide 24-hour, on-call traffic control support to the WSP for major road-blocking incidents in the Northwest, Olympic, Southwest, and Eastern regions.
- *WSDOT Tow Truck Service Patrol on Lake Washington* Tow trucks patrol the floating bridges on SR 520 and I-90 during peak commute periods.
- *Freeway Signage* Increased numbers of "No Parking/Tow-Away Zone" signs have been installed along key stretches of I-5, I-405, and SR 520.
- Interagency Agreement An "open roads" Memorandum of Understanding has been signed between WSP and WSDOT that directs both agencies to open roadways that become closed or blocked by incidents as soon as possible.

REPORT ORGANIZATION

The intent of this report is to describe the costs and benefits of these services, and to compare the relative merits of these different approaches. The results are documented in the following manner:

- Chapter 2 a description of the research approach followed for this project
- Chapter 3 a description of incident characteristics and operating statistics
- Chapter 4 a comparison of the service delivery modes
- Chapter 5 implementation issues
- Chapter 6 conclusions and recommendations

CHAPTER 2 RESEARCH APPROACH

The focus of the evaluation was on the effectiveness of each service delivery mode in comparison to the others in helping reduce delays and providing customer service. The evaluation was not designed to quantify the Service Patrol's overall benefits or justify the program. Given the scope of the project, the evaluation efforts focused on the following tasks:

- conducting an analysis of the incident data to describe Patrol services operated by various modes
- comparing the services provided, program impacts, and operational cost for the tested service delivery modes
- determining institutional, operational, and technical issues.

ANALYSIS OF INCIDENT DATA

The data compiled during the first six months of operation (August 2000 to January 2001) formed the basis for reporting the operational statistics. The types of incident data included the following:

- number of motorist contacts
- distribution by time
- distribution by location
- method of detection and notification
- frequency of false alarms
- type of incidents
- lane blockage
- response time.

The operational statistics were obtained from information recorded in the Service Patrol logs. Service Patrols were required to fill out an assist form for each contact made. The

forms included the location of the incident, various time stamps, the cause and problem associated with the incident, and the actions taken. A copy of the assist form is included in Appendix C. The information on hard copy was then hand-coded into a spreadsheet computer program for compilation and analysis. Other secondary data resources included the WSDOT's FLOW system and Transportation Data office for vehicle volume data. Vehicle volumes were also used for computing benefits. For the Seattle area, complete volume data were readily available from the FLOW system. Partial data for the Tacoma area were available and provided by the WSDOT's Transportation Data Office.

COMPARISON OF SERVICE DELIVERY MODES

Comparison of service delivery mode factors such as service areas, service hours, training, and service delivery was accomplished on the basis of the information gathered from observing the pilot operations. The evaluation also assessed program impacts such as quantified and perceived benefits resulting from each service mode and associated operation costs.

Quantifying Benefit

Response time was compared between incidents before and after the Service Patrol operation. The *before* data were extracted from the WSP's Computer Aided Dispatch (CAD) system and filtered through several steps to obtain response times that were directly associated with the Service Patrol:

- dates (e.g., August 1999 to January 2000, 1999)
- patrolled segments
- time (weekdays, 6:00 AM to 10:00 AM and 2:00 PM to 6:00 PM)
- blocking incidents involving disabled vehicles, collision, or debris.

The *after* data were obtained from the Service Patrol logs. In general, the correlation between the assist forms and the CAD data was reasonably good. The intent of this check was to make sure that it would be reasonable to directly compare time stamps from

the two sources.

The approach was based on the assumption that the tangible benefits would primarily stem from a shortened response time (that is, from the time when an incident was detected to the time when the first responder arrived at the scene). In this case, incident response time was defined as the duration from the time the Service Patrol received information about the incident, either by themselves or via WSP's radio broadcast, until the Service Patrol arrived at the scene. Service Patrol would arrive and respond to an incident as quickly as possible in the chain of incident management and perform their duties when feasible. Thus, the methodology for quantifying traffic benefits involved the following:

•	Identify the change in incident response time	This was calculated by comparing CAD data collected before implementation of the Service Patrol with data collected about lane blocking incidents to which the Service Patrol responded.
•	Determine the change in vehicle hours of delay	The change in vehicle hours of delay during the incident response phase was estimated on the basis of queueing theory using traffic volumes on the roadway. Assuming one-lane blockage, appropriate traffic flow reduction was applied on the basis of literature cited in "Relieving Traffic Congestion Through Incident Management 1994" (e.g., 33 percent reduction for a four-lane facility, 50 percent reduction for a three-lane facility, 70 percent reduction for a two-lane facility).
•	Estimate the value of time	An average person-hour of \$12.40 was used to compute delay savings on the basis of the Texas Transportation Institute's 2001 Urban Mobility Study.
•	Compute the cost of delay savings	Delay savings = [Change in delay (veh-hr per incident)] x [number of incidents] x [1.2 person per veh] x [\$12.40 per person-hour]

The limitations of the quantitative approach should be recognized. Attempts were made to quantify the Service Patrol's contribution in reducing total incident duration.

However, the indication of incident clearance time found in data sources such as CAD and Service Patrol logs reflected inappropriate durations and inconsistent definitions of incident clearance time. For example, for an incident involving a collision, the Service Patrol might not be needed for the entire duration and might leave after the roadway had been cleared but before the WSP officer was done with the investigation. Because the total duration should include the time from incident occurrence until the last response unit departs from the scene, the clearance time stamp in the CAD log may indicate the last unit's departure time or the time that the dispatcher closes the particular case, knowing that the roadway may have been cleared and traffic back to normal flow much earlier in the process. In addition, the duration of clearance time is affected by other variables, such as the time required for a WSP officer to investigate the incident, time to clear special debris, time to wait for an additional tow if it is required for different types of incidents, and the time when the last responding unit calls in.

Identifying Perceived Benefits

In addition to traffic impacts, some other intangible benefits such as customer satisfaction were important in describing the program's effectiveness, although they were not possible to quantify. Customer satisfaction was obtained through motorist surveys. Motorists who received services from the Service Patrol were asked to rate the service in a survey. The evaluation also focused on whether motorists' attitudes changed with different modes of service. In addition, the survey assessed public awareness of the program. Finally, motorists were asked to offer their comments about the program. A copy of the public survey card is in Appendix C.

The evaluation also assessed the perceived benefits received by the responding agencies. Feedback on organizational/institutional and operational issues were solicited from the project partners. The intent was to obtain their point of view about how the agencies benefited from the Service Patrol program.

Conducting a Cost Analysis

An hourly rate, including labor cost, vehicle cost, and overhead, was obtained for the Service Patrol operated by the WSDOT and the WSP. The cost of the RTTOs was based on the negotiated contract hourly rate, which included their operator and vehicle costs, plus profit and overhead. The hourly rate for AAA's RescueVan operation was based on AAA's annual budget estimates.

DETERMINATION OF IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES

Feedback on institutional, operational, and technical issues was solicited from the project partners. Another information source was the project meetings, where issues were presented and discussed.

CHAPTER 3 OPERATIONAL CHARACTERISTICS

Characteristics of the incidents, such as incident type and the level of service provided by the Service Patrol, were analyzed.

NUMBER OF MOTORIST CONTACTS

During the six-month period, over 5,000 Service Patrol assists or contacts occurred on the patrolled segments on I-5, I-405, SR 16, and the floating bridges on I-90 and SR 520 (see Figure 3-1a). Note that the frequency of Service Patrol contacts varied depending on the traffic volumes and the roadway configurations, as well as the length of the segments and the number of on-site patrolling units. Notice that the personnel supplied by the WSP and RTTO were two operators per shift in the Seattle area; the Tacoma area had only one patrol from each agency at a time. Three WSDOT trucks were provided for the floating bridges. The AAA had just one passenger van. On a per patrol unit basis, Figure 3-1b shows that both cadets and the RTTOs responded to approximately the same number of contacts. Fewer contacts were made by the WSDOT's trucks and AAA's RescueVan. Note that the AAA's RescueVan was available only during the afternoon service hours but not during the morning service hours in September and October of 2000.

A rough estimate based on a one-week sample in August 2000 indicated that the Service Patrol responded to a significant portion of the incidents, such as disablements, debris, abandoned vehicles, and collisions, that occurred on the patrolled segments during the service hours (see Table 3-1). The remaining incidents were handled by regular WSP officers and the Incident Response Team. In Seattle and Tacoma, both cadets and RTTOs responded to roughly the same number of incidents. However, on some roadway segments, the percentage of total incidents was smaller than on other segments.

August 2000 - January 2001 6-10AM, 2-6PM



Figure 3-1a. Motorist Contacts by Location and Mode



August 2000 - January 2001 6-10AM, 2-6PM

Figure 3-1b. Motorist Contacts Per Patrol Unit

Agency	Total Incidents Recorded on the CAD System	Responded to by Service Patrol	Percentage
I-5 Seattle WSP Cadets	87	41	47%
I-5 Seattle RTTO	66	45	68%
SR 16 Tacoma WSP Cadets	48	29	60%
I-5 Tacoma RTTO	60	25	42%

Table 3-1. Level of Incident Response by Service Patrol (8/21/00-8/25/00)

Distribution by Time

Figure 3-2 shows the number of contacts by month. In general, more contacts were made during the summer and fall than during the winter. The pattern of contact frequency was similar to that of monthly traffic volumes (see figures 3-3a to 3-3c). In the Seattle area, both the number of contacts and the traffic volumes were relatively higher in August and September than in November and December. (Note that information on monthly traffic volume variation for I-5 and SR 16 in Tacoma was not readily available.)

More motorist contacts occurred during the afternoon commute hours than in the morning. The pattern was relatively similar for all the service areas; about 60 percent of the motorist contacts were in the afternoon service hours. Figures 3-4a to 3-4f illustrate the distribution of contacts in relation to the average hourly volume in 2000 for each location and mode. (Limited volume data were available for the Tacoma area.)

Distribution by Location

Figures 3-5a to 3-5g illustrate the number of motorist contacts by location along a specific coverage area. Some patrol segments experienced groupings of contacts within each patrol area. For instance, on I-5 north of the Seattle downtown, most contacts occurred between Mercer St. and the University District and between NE 85th St and NE 145th St. Contacts occur frequently at three major spots near the Seattle downtown area:

near James and Columbia, the I-90 Interchange, and near the West Seattle Freeway and Michigan St. On the I-90 floating bridge, more contacts were found in areas near the Mt. Baker Tunnel, the mid span of the bridge, and Island Crest Way. On the SR 520 floating bridge, the incident occurrences spread relatively evenly between Medina and the Portage Bay viaduct. AAA's RescueVan had more contacts near the SR 520 interchange on I-405. In Tacoma, contacts were made relatively evenly over the SR 16 segment from the I-5 Interchange to the west side of the Narrows Bridge. On I-5 in Tacoma, a concentration of contacts was found near the SR 16 Interchange.



Figure 3-2. Distribution of Contacts by Month



Figure 3-3a. Contacts vs. Monthly Traffic Volumes at Ship Canal Bridge, I-5



Figure 3-3b. Contacts vs. Monthly Traffic Volumes at University St., I-5



Figure 3-3c. Contacts vs. Monthly Traffic Volumes at Floating Bridges, I-90 / SR 520



Figure 3-4a. Contacts vs. 24-Hr Traffic Volumes at Ship Canal Bridge, I-5



Figure 3-4b. Contacts vs. 24-Hr Traffic Volumes at University St., I-5



Figure 3-4c. Contacts vs. 24-Hr Traffic Volumes at Floating Bridges, I-90 and SR 520



Figure 3-4d. Contacts vs. 24-Hr Traffic Volumes at NE 4th/8th St., I-405



Figure 3-4e. Contacts vs. 24-Hr Traffic Volumes at West End of Narrows Bridge, SR 16



Figure 3-4f. Contacts vs. 24-Hr Traffic Volumes at Tacoma, I-5



Figure 3-5a. Contacts by Location: I-5, Seattle, WSP Cadets



Figure 3-5b. Contacts by Location: I-5, Seattle, RTTO



Figure 3-5c. Contacts by Location: I-90, Seattle, WSDOT



Figure 3-5d. Contacts by Location: SR 520, Seattle, WSDOT



Figure 3-5e. Contacts by Location: I-5, Seattle, AAA



Figure 3-5f. Contacts by Location: SR 16, Tacoma, WSP Cadets



Figure 3-5g. Contacts by Location: I-5, Tacoma, RTTO

METHOD OF DETECTION AND NOTIFICATION

The majority of the Service Patrol's contacts were first detected by the Service Patrols themselves (see Figure 3-6). However, on the floating bridges, only about half of the contacts were detected by the Service Patrols. This may be because the SR 520 patrols, operated by WSDOT, had to respond to requests from the WSDOT's radio room in addition to WSP radio broadcasts. All of the AAA's contacts were made by its patrol; this is because AAA's RescueVan was not directly linked with either the WSP's or WSDOT's dispatch system.



August 2000 - January 2001

Figure 3-6. Method of Detection and Notification

FREQUENCY OF FALSE ALARMS

The frequency of false alarms was less than 10 percent (see Figure 3-7). Incidents that could not be located ("unable to locate," or ULT) were generally reported by citizens to the WSP or WSDOT and were self-cleared before the Service Patrol arrived at the scene, or the information was incorrect. Sometimes a Service Patrol might spot a vehicle

stopping on the shoulder in the opposite direction of traffic, but the vehicle might have left before the Service Patrol arrived.



Figure 3-7. Frequency of False Alarms

TYPE OF CONTACTS

Regardless of the Service Patrol coverage area, most of the contacts were related to disabled vehicles (see Figure 3-8). Fewer collisions (2 to 3 percent) were found in the Tacoma area than in the Seattle area (8 to 15 percent). On average, debris occurred less than 5 percent of the time. From 3 to 17 percent of the contacts were related to other reasons, such as motorists stopping to make cellular phone calls, looking for directions, and securing loads. Abandoned vehicles were found slightly more frequently in the Tacoma area (see Figure 3-9).

August 2000 - January 2001



Figure 3-8. Distribution of Contacts by Type



Figure 3-9. Frequency of Abandoned Vehicles

Figure 3-10 shows that overall, mechanical problems (26 percent), lack of fuel (14 percent), and flat tires (12 percent) were the most common causes of vehicle disablement. Depending on the location, the reasons for disablements varied slightly. For example, while mechanical problems occurred more than 25 percent of the time on average, lack of fuel occurred more frequently in the Seattle area than in the Tacoma area, and the Service Patrol on I-5 in Tacoma rendered services related to flat tires more often than the Service Patrol on SR 16.



Figure 3-10. Common Causes of Vehicle Disablement

LANE BLOCKAGE

As Table 3-2 shows, most of the contacts that the Service Patrol responded to did not involve a lane blockage. However, the contacts that do cause lane blockages are especially critical to maintaining freeway efficiency. Lane blocking seemed to occur more frequently in Seattle. This may be because of the limited shoulder space (or no shoulder space) on the SR 520 floating bridge and on along parts of I-5.

The causes of lane blocking incidents can be divided into three major categories: disablements, collisions, and debris. Of the motorist contacts that involved blocked lanes, the vast majority of them were not precipitated by collisions. Collision-related incidents caused about one third of the lane blocking contacts in almost all areas, except on SR 16 in Tacoma (22 percent). The majority of the lane blocking incidents cocurred on mainline travel lanes, and most of the blocking incidents typically blocked only one lane.

Of the lane blocking contacts, the frequency of towing or pushing disabled vehicles or debris varied among service areas. For instance, in Seattle on I-5, for lane blocking contacts, the cadets requested additional towing 16 percent of the time, whereas additional towing was needed only 7 percent of the time in Tacoma on SR 16. The RTTOs in Tacoma provided tow service to 45 percent of the blocking contacts, whereas the towing service was only needed 28 percent of the time for the RTTOs in Seattle.

Agency	Contacts Involving	Types of Blocking Contacts			ContactsTypes of Blocking ContactsLaneInvolvingBlockage		ne kage	Tow Required		
	Lane Blockage	Disabled	Accident	Debris	1-Ln	2-Ln	Push	Tow	Other Tow	
I-5 Seattle WSP Cadets	13%	42%	34%	20%	90%	9%	20%	N/A	16%	
I-5 Seattle RTTO	29%	56%	34%	10%	92%	7%	22%	28%	7%	
Floating Bridges WSDOT	34%	61%	35%	14%	95%	4%	31%	16%	9%	
I-405 Seattle AAA RescueVan	4%	100%	0%	0%	100%	0%	13%	13%	25%	
SR 16 Tacoma WSP Cadets	4%	22%	22%	56%	81%	19%	11%	N/A	7%	
I-5 Tacoma RTTO	7%	40%	33%	27%	84%	13%	7%	45%	0%	

Table 3-2. Contacts with Lane Blockage

RESPONSE TIME

The Service Patrol took an average of less than 5 minutes to arrive at the scene of a blocking incident (see Table 3-3). The response time for AAA's RescueVan was the shortest because AAA's RescueVan did not communicate with either WSP's or WSDOT's dispatch system; all its responses were identified by AAA's patrol. Of the blocking contacts, about half were detected by the Service Patrols themselves and half involved being notified by WSP radio broadcast. The reduction in response time by the Service Patrol is discussed in Chapter 4.

	Response Time (min)	Detection Mode		
		Self	Radio	Other
I-5 Seattle WSP Cadets	3.9	48%	49%	3%
I-5 Seattle RTTO	3.7	45%	53%	2%
Floating Bridges WSDOT	4.6	33%	63%	4%
I-405 Seattle AAA RescueVan	0.0	100%	NA	0%
SR 16 Tacoma WSP Cadets	1.7	41%	44%	15%
I-5 Tacoma RTTO	2.8	56%	40%	4%

Table 3-3. Response Time for Lane Blocking Contacts

CHAPTER 4 COMPARISON OF SERIVCE DELIVERY MODES

The operation of the Service Patrols was examined on the basis of how the pilot program was implemented. Note that the actual motorist assistance services varied slightly from one Service Patrol mode to another (see Table 4-1). Each mode of service delivery provided some unique customer services, while achieving the patrols' <u>primary goals</u>: <u>clearing lane blockages and assisting motorists</u>.

GEOGRAPHIC COVERAGE OF SERVICE AREAS

Service Patrols operated by the cadets and RTTOs covered selected high volume freeway segments on I-5 and SR 16 in the Seattle and Tacoma areas. WSDOT's trucks concentrated mainly on the floating bridges on I-90 and SR 520. As indicated in the Figure 3 series, the traffic volumes varied from one freeway segment to another. While most of the service modes covered limited areas under the pilot program (~10-mile segment per mode), AAA (and other approved, privately sponsored "motorist assistance" service providers) ranged over a wider service area on I-405 (~22-mile segment). This provided more widespread advertising visibility for sponsors but a less concentrated response.

Table 4-1. Differences Among Service Modes

	WSP Cadets	RTTO	WSDOT Trucks	AAA RescueVan	
Geographic Coverage of Service Areas (Including all ramps, express lanes, and	Seattle (9 miles) I-5 between 145 th St and Roanoke St	Seattle (7 miles) I-5 between Mercer St and Corson-Michigan St	Seattle (16 miles) I-90 between I-405 Interchange and 4 th Ave SR 520 between 108 th Ave	Seattle (22 miles) I-405 between NE 195 th to Renton	
express lanes, and collector/distributors)	Tacoma (11 miles) SR 16 between I-5 Interchange and Olympic Dr	Tacoma (11 miles) I-5 between Port of Tacoma and S 38 th St (AM), between SR 16 and SR 512 Interchange (PM)	and I-5 Interchange		
Patrolling Units	2 in Seattle, 1 in Tacoma	2 in Seattle, 1 in Tacoma	3 in Seattle	1 in Seattle	
Weekday Service Hours	6:00 – 10:00 AM 2:00 – 6:00 PM	A 6:00 - 10:00 AM 5:30 - 9:30 (6:30 - 2:00 - 6:00 PM 1:30 - 6:30 (2:30 -		6:00 – 9:30 AM 3:30 – 7:00 PM	
Training	Staff Training	Jointly trained by WSDOT/WSP	ed by WSDOT/WSP Trained by WSDOT for other maintenance and emergency duties and traffic control (equipped with flagging cards)		
Commercial Driver's Not required Not License (CDL)		Not required	Required	Not required	
Communications	Formal WSP Protocol	Formal WSP Protocol	Formal WSP Protocol	No Formal WSP Protocol	
Tag and Mark of Abandoned Vehicles	ad Mark of Tag Mark Mark oned Vehicles		Mark	Mark	
Vehicle	Jeeps (Push bumpers)	Tow Truck (Class A, B, D, or E)	Tow Truck (Class D)	Passenger Van	
Tow	No	Yes	Yes	No	
Gas	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	
Cellular Phone	Some have private cellular phones, however it's not required under contract	Some have private cellular phones, however it's not required under contract	Yes	Yes	

SERVICE HOURS

As Table 4-1 shows, while the service hours for the Service Patrol operated by the WSP cadets and RTTOs were restricted to 6:00 AM to 10:00 AM and 2:00 PM to 6:00 PM, the hours for other roving patrols were slightly different because of the characteristics of the travel demand in each corridor. The WSDOT's trucks patrolled the SR 520 and I-90 floating bridges from 5:30 AM to 10:30 AM and from 1:30 PM to 7:30 PM and for one day a week from 9:30 AM to 6:00 PM. AAA's RescueVan operated along I-405 from 6:00 AM to 9:00 AM and from 3:30 PM to 7:00 PM.

TRAINING

As mentioned previously, while all Service Patrols' primary goal was the same to detect and clear the roadway as quickly as possible and to assist motorists—the training effort varied for each service delivery mode. Except for the Service Patrols operated by the RTTOs, which were jointly trained by WSDOT and the WSP, the other Service Patrols (i.e., operated by the WSP cadets, WSDOT, and AAA) were trained by their own agencies for their unique purposes. For instance, WSP cadets were trained differently because they would not operate tow-equipped vehicles and they represented an enforcement agency. WSDOT Service Patrol staff were trained to perform other WSDOT maintenance and operations tasks, such as opening and closing Express Lane gates, clearing clogged catch basins, and performing traffic control. AAA's RescueVan operator was specifically trained to perform minor vehicle maintenance.

SERVICE DELIVERY

All the Service Patrols provided simple services such as a jump start or a tire change, things that should routinely take about 10 minutes to complete. However, the services provided by each delivery mode were not identical. In addition to routine service tasks, each service delivery provider performed certain unique institutional duties and functions, given its participation and teamwork in the "Service Patrol" arena. For

example, WSDOT tow truck operators performed other maintenance and operations tasks, and they were required to obtain a commercial driver's license while other service operators did not have to. These requirements allowed more flexible use of these staff to meet WSDOT needs while also ensuring that staff time was used efficiently throughout the work shift. All Service Patrols, except AAA's RescueVan, were required to follow formal WSP communications protocol. While WSP cadets tagged all abandoned vehicles, officially setting a 24-hour clock for vehicle impound, Service Patrols operated by the RTTO, AAA, and WSDOT only marked abandoned vehicles for interagency reference.

The services offered by the Service Patrol were also influenced by the equipment they used. The WSP-operated patrols drove push bumper-equipped jeeps. Because participation in the patrol effort was open to all certified tow operators, the RTTO Service Patrols operated a variety of tow vehicles (e.g., classes A, B, D, or E). One of the tow vehicles was called the "Bus" because it could transport up to twelve people. The "Bus," a class "B" tow vehicle, was unique in that it allowed both towing capability and the ability to transport more than two stranded motorists. However, its size did raise concerns with WSP officers about maneuverability within tight freeway right-of-way and into limited drop areas. These issues were successfully resolved. The WSDOT patrol operated Class D tow trucks. AAA used vans as its privately sponsored motorist assistance vehicles.

The capabilities of these vehicles differed. For example, the WSP-operated jeeps could only push vehicles; however, the smaller size of the WSP jeeps allowed them to maneuver more quickly through stopped traffic to reach an incident scene. The RTTO vehicles were all tow equipped, which gave them the ability to relocate disabled vehicles or debris to the shoulder or off the freeway to a drop zone area by towing, pushing, or hauling. Tow-equipped patrols can remove some vehicles that can not be moved with push bumpers, which means some incidents may be cleared faster.

The other major differences in service delivery were the ability to carry gasoline and how and when cellular phones were made available to stranded motorists. The only service delivery mode that did not carry gasoline was the WSP. Under the pilot contract, the cadets and the RTTOs did not have to carry cellular phones. Instead of direct phone access, Service Patrols could offer motorists the option of having assistance calls placed by the WSP's dispatch office. Some of the cadets and RTTOs did carry private cellular phones, but none of the cellular phone charges were covered by the current contract. The WSDOT trucks and AAA's RescueVan both provided cellular phone access to stranded motorists.

<u>PUBLIC ATTITUDES TOWARD DIFFERENT MODES OF SERVICE</u> <u>DELIVERY</u>

One intention of the Service Patrol survey was to determine whether the public's attitudes changed with different modes of service. The survey results indicated that the positive viewpoint toward the Service Patrol service was uniform, regardless of the service mode (see Figure 4-1). However, many motorists did have a different first reaction toward uniformed law enforcement officers (or state agency personnel) than toward private tow truck operators.

In the beginning of the pilot program, the RTTOs in the Tacoma area indicated that stranded motorists were worried that fees would be associated with the service. Although Service Patrol signs were attached to RTTOs' vehicles, and the RTTOs were required to wear white coveralls or a white shirt and white pants with a reflective traffic vest and a WSDOT-supplied soft yellow cap, many motorists' initial thought appeared to be, "How much is it going to cost me?" This did not appear to be a concern with either the WSP- or WSDOT-operated Service Patrol, to which stranded motorists generally appeared to react as if, "Help is on the way!" The issue was resolved when the RTTO operators carried informational brochures about the Service Patrol program to help motorists understand the service.



Figure 4-1. Public Rating on Service

PROGRAM IMPACT

Rating from the Public

One of the major benefits of the Service Patrol program was that it had broad public support. As Figure 4-1 shows, the public response to the Service Patrol program was overwhelmingly positive. Over 90 percent of the assisted motorists who provided feedback (16 percent of all assisted motorists) for the evaluation rated the service as "excellent." The Service Patrol's assistance was viewed by the aided individuals as

- excellent/wonderful/fabulous
- polite/ courteous/positive
- professional/ helpful
- patient/friendly/pleasant
- understanding/thoughtful.

Most of the respondents were not aware of the program until the day they received assistance (see Figure 4-2). Of the Service Patrols operated by different entities, more people knew about those operated by WSDOT via newspaper, radio, and TV. This may be because the service on the floating bridges was implemented much earlier than the service for other areas.

When motorists did learn about the program, public sentiment was overwhelmingly favorable. Written comments on the service routinely included praise such as the following:

- "Thank you so much for saving me!!!"
- "Very considerate, friendly, and empathetic. Let me know if you need a testimony. My motor club could not help me but you came through."
- "My service was better than I hoped for. Thanks so much!!"
- "I normally complain a lot about how my tax dollars are spent, but I'm thankful your tow truck was there to help me that day!"
- "Advertise with flyers so people can support this program. I got to work much faster with this service."

Many respondents suggested that the state continue the service, increase the number of patrol vehicles, and expand the geographic area covered by the patrols. The ability to provide cellular phone service to the stranded motorists to contact families or make additional plans was often suggested by public feedback.



Figure 4-2. Public Awareness

Interagency Cooperation

A significant benefit of the Service Patrol pilot was the much improved interagency cooperation and coordination among WSDOT, WSP, and the towing industry. The pilot program fostered an environment that combined numerous interest groups from the public (i.e., WSP, WSDOT) and private sectors (i.e., RTTOS, AAA). Although AAA was not directly involved with the pilot program (e.g., it did not receive grants for service), it did demonstrate commitment through active participation and contribution to meet the goals of the program. AAA also shared its experiences with its unique qualifications in roadside services.

The partners for this pilot program met regularly to coordinate their efforts on project implementation. These regular meetings allowed an opportunity for stakeholders to be updated about project status. They also provided an excellent forum in which issues could be raised and resolved in a timely fashion. While the main supervisory role for the program resided with WSDOT administrators, all the stakeholders participated in working out program details such as issues related to roles, responsibilities, equipment, and training. Problems or issues were discussed, and solutions were provided as a group. For instance, one of the discussions was about the magnetic Service Patrol signs that were required to be placed on all the Service Patrol vehicles. These signs were often lost and needed replacement because they did not attach securely to all of the differently shaped patrol vehicles. Also discussed was how to deal with the fact that some tow truck operators had difficulty providing sufficient numbers of properly trained personnel. These meetings were viewed very positively because they allowed stakeholders to raise their concerns, have those concerns addressed by the whole group, and learn more about each other's operations.

The project also provided the opportunity for each of the participating agencies to learn more about each other's operations. WSDOT operators also felt that the pilot program resulted in improved communication and a better working relationship with the WSP officers. Increased levels of interaction and joint training between WSP and WSDOT resulted in more effective working arrangements between the field staffs of these two agencies. Better working arrangements equated directly to more thorough achievement of both agencies' goals.

Personnel Utilization

For WSP, having cadets patrol the freeway during commute hours resulted in two major benefits. First, it helped with WSP's calls for services so troopers could better allocate their effort and spend their time on more pressing issues. Second, the Service Patrol program gave prospective WSP officers additional opportunity to train under real traffic conditions.

The required tasks provided the cadets the chance to contact and deal with the

39

public, learn how to handle themselves in traffic, clear collisions, use the radio, and practice all the other aspects of being a trooper. They also had the opportunity to interact with other troopers, giving the troopers a chance to see how the cadets functioned and to review their job performance under realistic job conditions.

Reduced Incident Response Time

For blocking incidents, before implementation of the Service Patrols, 5 minutes to almost 10 minutes would pass before assistance arrived at the scene. With Service Patrols, on average, assistance took less than 5 minutes to arrive at the scene (see Table 4-2). The reduction in incident response time ranged from 44 to 77 percent. As indicated in Table 3-3, the fact that the Service Patrols identified half of the blocking incidents they responded to means that they provided a significant improvement in response time. Note that without Service Patrols, the response time would be much higher on the SR 520 floating bridge, where each incident is a blocking incident and congestion caused by the incidents would significantly delay responding vehicles.

A conservative estimate of time savings, based only on the reduction in response time for lane blocking incidents over a one-year period, is that the current level of Service Patrol would save between 4,400 and 13,000 vehicle hours of delay. Assuming an average person-hour of \$12.40 and a vehicle occupancy rate of 1.2, the annual savings in delay costs to the public would be about \$328,000.

This monetary savings estimate does not include the benefits assisted motorists receive. It also underestimates the savings that Service Patrols produce by more quickly detecting roadway problems. (That is, we cannot estimate the time saved when Service Patrols see the incident first, rather than waiting for a passing motorist to see a problem and phone the WSP. We can only measure the savings that occur after that call takes place.) In addition, the computed value does not account for any savings from a reduction in secondary accidents, which Service Patrols prevent by quickly removing

roadway blockages and debris. In doing this, they decrease both the occurrence and duration of congestion and accident-causing weaving by vehicles trying to avoid debris.

	SEATTLE		TAC	OMA
	WSP	RTTO	WSP	RTTO
Number of Motorist Contacts	1459	1231	767	764
Percent of Blocking Incidents	13%	29%	4%	7%
Tow Required	16%	28%	7%	45%
Without Service Patrol	7.0	9.5	7.5	5.2
With Service Patrol	3.9	3.7	1.7	2.8
Estimated Reduction in	3.1	5.8	5.8	2.4
Response Time (min)	44%	61%	77%	46%
Estimated Annual Reduction in Delay (veh-hr)	4440	13048	1764	2812
Estimated Annual Cost Savings	\$66,100	\$194,200	\$26,200	\$41,800

 Table 4-2.
 Response Time Reduction for Lane Blocking Incidents

COST ANALYSIS

As Table 4-3 shows, the RTTO had the highest hourly rate (\$60.00). The costs for the WSP cadets and WSDOT-operated Service Patrol were comparable—\$37.00 per hour vs. \$35.46 per hour. Note that the WSP's hourly rate could fluctuate if the roving speed was assumed differently for vehicle cost (i.e., 25 mph yields \$35.35 per hour). AAA's RescueVan had the lowest hourly rate (\$26.04 to \$31.25), which was based on AAA's estimate. Most of WSDOT's administrative costs were absorbed by the Traffic Operations program budget, and expansion of the pilot program would likely increase WSDOT's administrative cost, particularly because of the need for expanded training programs.

	RTTO (Pilot Program)	WSP (Pilot Program)	WSDOT (Existing Service on the Floating Bridges)	AAA (Private Service)
Hourly Labor Rate	(Negotiated	\$27.25	\$27.92	N/A ⁷
Hourly Vehicle Cost	rate ⁴)	\$9.75 ⁵	\$7.54 ⁶	N/A ⁷
Hourly Cost Rate	\$60.00	\$37.00	\$35.46	\$26.04 - \$31.25
Annual Cost for one Service Patrol unit	\$115,000	\$71,000	\$68,000	\$50,000 - \$60,000

Table 4-3. Program Cost Breakdown by Hour

The costs incurred by service modes can also be broken down by the number of motorist contacts and the coverage area. The costs presented in Table 4-4 include the labor and equipment to operate at current level, five days a week, during 4-hour AM and PM peak periods, from August 2000 to January 20001, on *very different* sections of congested freeways. On a per contact basis, the WSP's cadets cost the least. RTTOs' rate was still higher than the WSP's for each contact for the covered roadways. Although AAA's hourly cost was the lowest, because it had a lower contact rate, its cost per contact was higher than that of the cadets and RTTOs. On a per patrolled lane-mile basis, while the costs for the cadets and the RTTOs were equivalent in the Tacoma area, the cost of the RTTOs was still higher than that of the cadets in the Seattle area. These examples illustrate that a cost comparison among the different service modes can fluctuate depending on the intensity of the service coverage.

⁴ The negotiated contract hourly rate for the RTTOs includes their operator and vehicle costs, plus profit and overhead.

⁵ For WSP (per the agreement with WSDOT), the hourly vehicle cost is based on \$0.325 per mile, assuming an average roving speed of 30 mph (given congestion and stops for customer service contacts).

⁶ For WSDOT, the quoted value is for the "TEF(Transportation Equipment Fund) rental rate" for their tow vehicles, based upon 2000 hours of operation per year and replacement on an eight year truck life.

⁷ Cost estimate provided by AAA did not include a specific break out of labor and vehicle costs.

Agency	Est. Total Cost	Total Contacts	Lane Miles	Center Line Mile	Cost per Contact	Cost per Patrolled Lane-Mile
	(8/00-1/01)	(8/00-1/01)			(8/00-1/01)	(8/00-1/01)
I-5 Seattle WSP Cadets	\$57,700	1459	27	9	\$40	\$2,100
I-5 Seattle RTTO	\$115,000	1231	21	7	\$93	\$5,500
I-90 & SR 520 Floating Bridges WSDOT Trucks	\$102,000	798	48	16	\$130	\$3,200
I-405 Seattle AAA RescueVan	\$27,500	300	66	22	\$92	\$400
SR 16 Tacoma WSP Cadets	\$28,900	767	22	11	\$38	\$4,300
I-5 Tacoma RTTO	\$57,500	764	33	11	\$75	\$4,300

Table 4-4. Program Cost Breakdown by Contacts and Coverage Area

CHAPTER 5 IMPLEMENTATION ISSUES

While no major problems interfered with the overall functions of the Service Patrol operations, institutional, operational, and technical issues did surface during the pilot project. Specific issues of importance are listed below. Each of these issues is discussed more fully below. Possible remedies are also presented when warranted.

<u>Institutional</u>	Operational	<u>Technical</u>
Program	Service hours	Radio equipment
Performance accountability	Fuel service	Magnetic Service Patrol signs
Retaining trained employees		

INSTITUTIONAL ISSUES

Program Administration

The Service Patrol pilot program was set up so that one maintenance supervisor in Seattle and one traffic engineer in Tacoma were responsible for the management of the contract as well as their original job tasks (i.e. employee evaluations, employee time, operational locations, etc.). WSDOT experienced major inconvenience with the constant change of tow companies in Tacoma. There, the RTTOs worked on a rotational basis, changing approximately every 45 days to accommodate six contracted tow truck companies. (In Seattle, the same two tow truck companies were contracted during the entire pilot period.) Thus, the training for the RTTOs became ongoing. Each training session only accommodated the operators from the upcoming one or two tow companies. Multiple training sessions were required because WSDOT determined that the training should take place soon before operation began so that all the new information (e.g., the protocols for communicating with the dispatch center and the procedures for dealing with different types of contacts) would remain fresh in the operators' minds as they began their work. In Tacoma, about 30 percent of the WSDOT maintenance supervisor's time was needed to keep track of, train, and re-train the RTTOs, re-stock supplies, and process the paper work for the Service Patrol program. Possible solutions may include providing more funding dedicated to WSDOT's administrative role and lengthening each tow company's contract to avoid excess training and management associated with frequent rotation.

Performance Accountability

Program performance accountability was a significant issue among the Service Patrol providers operated by the cadets, RTTOs, and the AAA. No direct communication was available, nor was regular contact required with the operators. Especially with the RTTOs, no formal mechanism was provided during the pilot to ensure that the Service Patrols were, in fact, providing the intended service and that the staff providing that service were adequately trained for the job. While no direct evidence of problems was discovered in the pilot program evaluation, the program review indicated that stronger managerial control of the program would be beneficial. Such control may include mechanisms to ensure that Service Patrols are providing the intended service, that the staff providing that service are adequately trained for the job, and that contact with the public is courteous and professional.

Retaining Trained Employees

During the pilot project, a number of tow contractors had a hard time retaining trained employees for operations. This problem was due to the high personnel turnover rate in the towing business. The participating tow truck companies were not required to have a certain number of operators trained for the pilot program. Depending on the size of the company, the trained tow truck operators for the pilot program ranged from one to five operators. As a result, tow companies asked for more frequent training courses to maintain sufficient numbers of properly trained personnel so they could still be qualified for the pilot program. This is another reason that the training was needed on an ongoing basis.

OPERATIONAL ISSUES

Service Hours

Concerns were raised about adjusting the service hours to appropriately capture the high volume areas during the peak commute hours. For the pilot, the hours for the Service Patrols operated by the WSP cadets and RTTOs were restricted to 6:00 AM to 10:00 AM and 2:00 PM to 6:00 PM, while the service hours for other roving patrols were slightly different, given the characteristics of the travel demand in each corridor. Although the service hours were not changed during the pilot period, participants realized that seasonal demand such as weather and school schedules could influence the need for service. For example, in the Tacoma area, operators found that it might be more suitable to shift the service hours to an earlier start (e.g., 5:30 AM to 9:30 AM) during the fall and winter months while schools were in session. Similarly, the service hours should accommodate the fact that people tend to stay out longer during the summer months, when schools are out and more recreational activities are available. The baseball games at Safeco Field in Seattle serve as a good example. During the weekdays, the games usually start at 7:00 PM. The volumes from regular commuters combined with people traveling to the game result in more congestion on I-5 and I-90 that lasts well beyond 6:00 PM. The service hours could also be modified because of the characteristics of travel demand in a corridor. For example, on the Ship Canal Bridge on I-5 in Seattle, the peak commute hours extend beyond the traditional morning and afternoon commute hours. Vehicle volumes typically stay relatively high (\sim 1,500 vehicles per lane per hour) all day long, from 6:00 AM to 7:00 PM. Providing Service Patrols all day at this location

might be warranted. In summary, care should be taken to determine the appropriate hours for implementing the service, and flexibility should be allowed in implementing the program.

Fuel Service

The other major operational issue was whether the Service Patrol operated by the RTTOs should continue to supply free gasoline. Some RTTOs thought that the disabled vehicle should be towed to the nearest off-ramp or drop area (some gas stations are within walking distance), where motorists could make their own arrangements safely. RTTOs' reservations about carrying gasoline stemmed mainly from the cost of the gas and liability issues. First, fuel had become more costly (for the pilot project, the RTTOs were not reimbursed for fuel costs). They were also concerned about possible problems with private vehicles after the Service Patrol had given them fuel. Although most of the RTTOs' insurance companies preferred that they not carry extra gas, they did not prohibit the towers from providing fuel service. Last, refilling empty gas tanks takes time away from patrolling the roadways.

However, there are several reasons why the RTTOs should continue to supply free gasoline. First, out-of-gas vehicles appear to be a reasonably frequent (7 to 23 percent of service stops, depending on location, see Figure 3-10) cause of disabled vehicles on the freeway system. Second, despite the current cost of gasoline, the total cost of providing gasoline would be minor relative to the total cost of the program, only about \$1,200 per year. This figure is based on the actual number of assists related to refueling over the first 6 months of the pilot program and the costs associated with that service (see Table 5-1).

More importantly, supplying a small amount of gas to move those vehicles is likely to decrease the time required to remove the disabled vehicle. If fuel can get the disabled vehicle started, the motorist can drive directly to a gas station, and the Service Patrol does not have to take the time to push or tow the vehicle. This provides both improved convenience and customer service. It also decreases the chances for vehicle damage to both the Service Patrol vehicle and disabled vehicle that could result from physical contact between the vehicles (whether by push bumper or tow hook). The pilot experience suggests that the time the Service Patrol takes to refill its gas can once it has given gas to a stranded motorist is not significant and can be reduced by carrying a larger gas can (a minimum capacity of 1 gallon was required by the pilot contract).

Because the cost of providing out-of-gas vehicles with free gasoline is relatively low, one solution may be for WSDOT to reimburse gasoline costs to the RTTO Service Patrol. And while no legal requirement is specifically available for carrying gas, it is understood that all portable gasoline must be stored in an approved container with an approved label and outside the vehicle.

August/00- January/01)	Contacts with Fuel Problem	Daily Frequency (Assume 128 working days)	Fuel Consumption for Refueling Service (Assume 1–2 Gallon per Assist)	Fuel Cost (Assume \$1.70 per Gallon)
I-5 Seattle WSP Cadets	113	0.9	113 Gallons	\$192
I-5 Seattle RTTO	270	2.1	270 Gallons	\$459
Floating Bridges WSDOT	101	0.8	101 Gallons	\$172
I-405 Seattle AAA RescueVan	60	0.5	60 Gallons	\$102
I-5 Tacoma RTTO	54	0.4	54 Gallons	\$92
SR 16 Tacoma WSP Cadets	107	0.8	107 Gallons	\$182

Table 5-1. Fuel Service Demand

TECHNICAL ISSUES

Radio Equipment

The Service Patrol communicated with the WSP's dispatch center over in-vehicle mobile radios supplied by the WSDOT. During the course of the pilot program, two of the radios provided by the WSDOT/WSP to the RTTO trucks in Tacoma failed and had to be replaced. The challenge was that the radios were old surplus equipment and were hard to purchase or to find replacement parts for. The WSDOT will not routinely replace the highband radios that the WSP is currently using for mobile communication because WSDOT only supports the new 800-mhz system. However, although the cost of the radios is high (approximately around \$4,000 each), WSDOT will need to continue using the highband system.

Magnetic Service Patrol Signs

The magnetic Service Patrol signs that were required on all on-duty Service Patrol vehicles did not always fit well and did not stay on. This is primarily because the RTTO trucks consisted of a range of vehicles, and thus no single sign size and shape fit all vehicles. As a result, signs were often lost and needed replacement. Alternatives to replacing the magnetic signs must satisfy three requirements: (1) they should not be affected by the different contours and designs of the vehicles, (2) they should not require a major retrofit, (3) they must clearly identify the Service Patrols and must be easily seen by the public. Alternatives may include flags or placards placed inside the vehicle window.

CHAPTER 6 CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

CONCLUSIONS

All tested modes of Service Patrol provided significant benefits in reducing incident response time, decreasing motorist delay, and increasing safety. The pilot project resulted in a variety of intangible benefits, such as improved interagency coordination and cooperation, more efficient utilization of personnel, and a better understanding of each partner's roles and contributions toward congestion relief. Over 90 percent of the assisted motorists who provided feedback for the evaluation rated the service as "excellent." The positive viewpoint toward the Service Patrol was uniform, regardless of the service mode. Many respondents suggested that the state increase the number of patrol vehicles and expand the geographic area covered by the patrols. Clearly, motorists see themselves benefiting directly from the tax dollars spent on this service.

While some of these benefits are quantifiable in this report, readers should be reminded not to draw unfair comparisons based on impressions that some services are more efficient than others. It is important to remember that the tested modes were assigned to roadways that have different characteristics, such as traffic demand and roadway configurations. In addition, because each service delivery provider had different vehicle choices and performed certain unique institutional duties and functions, the actual services provided varied slightly from one Service Patrol mode to another.

Washington State Patrol

The WSP service provided two significant benefits not offered by the RTTOs, WSDOT, or AAA. The first was that the WSP Service Patrol gave prospective WSP officers additional opportunity to train under real traffic conditions. It was also an excellent opportunity for WSP to review the job performance of cadets under realistic job conditions. Second, a high level of interaction between WSP and WSDOT is always beneficial to both agencies, as increased levels of interaction and joint training result in more effective working arrangements between the field staff of these two agencies. Better working arrangements equate directly to more thorough achievement of both agencies' goals.

There were also two primary limitations to the WSP service. First, because of the WSP's vehicle choice, its patrols were not able to move a small fraction of disabled vehicles; however, the smaller size of the WSP Jeeps did allow them to maneuver more quickly through stopped traffic to reach an incident. Second, WSP participation in the Service Patrol program was limited by the number of cadets available for this program and the geographic distribution of those cadets.

Registered Tow Truck Operators

Under the pilot program, RTTO patrols were the most costly of the three modes. The RTTOs are still examining the true costs of participating in the program. The RTTO vehicles were tow equipped and carried extra gasoline. Because participation in the patrol effort was opened to all certified tow operators, there was considerable variation in the types of equipment used and the level of operator performance. Some RTTOs performed very well, while other operators had difficulty providing sufficient numbers of properly trained personnel.

One significant advantage of the RTTO service is that the equipment and personnel required to provide the services already exist. This means that patrol services can be provided on relatively short notice without increases in state staffing levels if such a need arises. This also means that short-duration (3 to 6 months) Service Patrol efforts could be operated anywhere within the state without the need for large capital expense outlays by WSDOT or WSP.

Washington State Department of Transportation

WSDOT Service Patrol staff were trained to perform other WSDOT maintenance and operations tasks, such as opening and closing Express Lane gates, clearing clogged catch basins, and performing traffic control. This allowed more flexible use of these staff to meet WSDOT needs. However, provision of additional service by WSDOT would require an increase in WSDOT staffing levels, as well as an increase in the WSDOT tow truck fleet.

American Automobile Association

The AAA RescueVan (and other approved, privately sponsored "motorist assistance" service providers) currently ranges over a wider service area. Since these efforts do not currently receive state funding, they do not concentrate on specific problem locations.

RECOMMENDATIONS FOR FUTURE IMPLEMENTATION

No significant changes to the existing pilot program are recommended at this time. All four Service Patrol efforts provided significant benefits that far outweighed the costs of the service provided. The largest benefits from Service Patrols will occur in areas of heavy congestion, particularly on congested roadways with geometric limitations (lack of shoulders or emergency pull-out areas). Current coverage was adequate, given the number of patrolling units per shift and the demand. The use of a combination of service providers has benefits that no single provider can duplicate, and the cost implications of changing the program are small enough that any potential savings would be fairly minor.

However, if the program is expanded, the evaluation team recommends that the expansion take advantage of the strengths of each provider while limiting each provider's weaknesses. For instance, for roadways with no or limited shoulder space (e.g., SR 520), tow equipped vehicles are preferred for faster clearance capability. The WSP program

should remain limited in size and geographic scope to fit within the WSP's cadet training effort. RTTO involvement is most likely to be beneficial for areas where highly peaked traffic patterns warrant limited hours of service (and thus do not warrant the purchase of expensive tow vehicles specifically for Service Patrol needs), or if the size of state personnel rolls become an issue.

Extension of the program to other geographic areas is warranted. The largest benefits from Service Patrols will occur in areas of heavy congestion, particularly on congested roadways with geometric limitations (lack of shoulders or emergency pull-out areas). Potential areas for the extension of the Service Patrol program may include the nine zones initially identified in the January 14, 1998, report titled *Service Patrol Study* – *Greater Puget Sound Freeway System*:

- I-405: I-5 to SR 522 (King Co.)
- I-5: Nisqually River to the King County Line (Pierce Co.)
- I-5: South 272nd St. (King Co.) to South 164th St. (Snohomish Co.)
- I-90: I-5 to Eastgate (King Co.)
- SR 16: Olympic Village (Gig Harbor) to I-5 (Pierce Co.)
- SR 167: Pierce Co. line to I-405 (King Co.)
- SR 512: Pacific Avenue to I-5 (Pierce Co.)
- SR 518: SR 99 to I-405 (King Co.)
- SR 520: I-5 to SR 202 (King Co.)

Expansion is also likely warranted in areas outside of the nine zones. Careful engineering analysis is needed to determine in which locations the service would be most cost effective.

Public/private partnerships, such as an agreement with AAA or other potential service providers, are also worth pursuing in that private funding could significantly reduce the cost to the state of Service Patrol efforts. The ability of these "motorist assistance" vans to routinely report freeway traffic condition information to WSDOT's

management centers would be especially beneficial for high volume areas where camera coverage does not yet exist.

In all cases, some additional management controls should be considered to ensure that maximum benefit is obtained from the funded services. For example, GPS vehicle tracking devices could be required in all Service Patrol vehicles to verify that the intended services were being provided.

The public is generally uninformed about the program. When motorists do learn about the program, public sentiment is overwhelmingly in favor of it. Better advertising of the program would boost public support and would gain favorable attention to the Legislature's attempts to provide congestion relief.

Last, the data collection and recording process should be improved and a single, uniform database should be maintained for ongoing monitoring and future evaluation of Service Patrol activities. One option may be to use handheld devices to record data and download the information directly to a single database for future use.

APPENDIX A PROJECT PARTNERS CONTACT LIST

WSDOT

Jim Shanafelt	360-705-7282 Fax 360-705-6826 Capitol View II Bldg., 724 Quince St. SE., Olympia, WA 98501-1536 E-mail – <u>shanafj@wsdot.wa.gov</u>
Jerry Althauser	206-726-6752 Fax 206-720-3023 811 E. Roanoke St., Seattle, WA 98102 E-mail – <u>althaug@wsdot.wa.gov</u>
Morgan Balogh	206-440-4485 Fax 206-440-4084 15700 Dayton Ave. N., Seattle, WA 98133-9710 E-mail – <u>baloghm@wsdot.wa.gov</u>
Jim Mitchell	253-536-6020 Fax 253-536-6092 112 th St. E., Suite 400, Tacoma, WA 98445-5104 E-mail – <u>mitchej@wsdot.wa.gov</u>
Kathy Vatter	253-536-6216 Fax 253-536-6092 112 th St. E., Suite 400, Tacoma, WA 98445-5104 E-mail – <u>vatterk@wsdot.wa.gov</u>
John Nisbet	360-705-7294 Fax 360-705-6826 5720 Capitol Boulevard S., Tumwater, WA 98501-6703 E- mail – <u>NisbetJ@wsdot.wa.gov</u>

WSP

Steve Burns	425-957-2306 - Fax 425-649-1532 2803 156 th Ave. SE., Bellevue, WA 98007 E-mail – <u>sburns@wsp.wa.gov</u>
Steve McCulley	425-649-4656 Fax 360-438-7124 2803 156 th Ave. SE., Bellevue, WA 98007 E-mail – <u>smccull@wsp.wa.gov</u>
Debbie Willis	425-649-4659 - Fax 360-438-7124 2803 156 th Ave. SE., Bellevue, WA 98007 E-mail – <u>dwillis@wsp.wa.gov</u>
John Batiste	253-536-4301 - Fax 360-438-7123 2502 112 th St. E., Tacoma, WA 98445-5104 E-mail – <u>jbatist@wsp.wa.gov</u>
Terry Hurlbut	253-536-4304 - Fax 360-438-7123 2502 112 th St. E., Tacoma, WA 98445-5104 E-mail <u>-thurlbu@wsp.wa.gov</u>

WTTA and RTTOs

Gene Gratzer	800-551-4243 Fax 253-922-9294 P.O. Box 1538, Puyallup, WA 98371 E-mail – <u>information@wtta.org</u>
Ken Nikko (Ken's Towing)	425-455-1200 Fax 425-885-4945 7730 185 th St. NE., Redmond, WA 98052 E-mail – <u>knikko@roadone.com</u>
Rich Steele (Lincoln Towing)	206-834-2795 Fax 206-363-7376 12220 Aurora Ave. N., Seattle, WA 98133 E-mail – <u>rsteele@roadone.com</u>
Don Roundtree (Seattle Central)	206-382-6223 Fax 206-381-9674 60 S. Spokane St., Seattle, WA 98134 E-mail – <u>d-r-otree@msn.com</u>
Tom Lomis (Bill's Towing)	253-272-9393 Fax 253-572-1443 1240 S. Sprague St., Tacoma, WA 98405
Michael Meyers (Gene's Towing)	253-588-1757 Fax 253-589-9484 9212 S. Tacoma Way, Tacoma, WA 98499 E-mail - <u>mgekmyers@msn.com</u>
Doug Lemay (Lucky Towing)	253-531-9189 Fax 253-537-8687 120 Tule Lake rd., Tacoma, WA 98444 E-mail - <u>mikeandgwen@msn.com</u>
Luanne Brono (Town & Country)	253-858-3255 Fax 253-858-4433 8711 SR 16 NW., Gig Harbor, WA 98332
James Mackmer (ABT Towing)	253-838-6342 Fax 253-838-3391 1210 th S. 343 rd # 2, Federal Way, WA 98003
AAA	

Tim Pearson	425-646-2181 Fax 425-646-2193 1745 114 th Ave. SE., Bellevue, WA 980004-6930 E-mail – <u>tdp@aaawa.com</u>
Dave Armstrong	206-448-6696 Fax 206-448-6391 702 6 th Ave. N., Seattle, WA 98109 E-mail – davea@aaawa.com

APPENDIX B INFORMATION BROCHURE ON SERVICE PATROLS



LOOK FAMILIAR?

This back-up might have been caused by a major incident - or something as small as a flat tire. Nearly 60 percent of the congestion on our highways is caused by vehicle collisions or blocking incidents.

Now there is another service out there to help keep traffic moving. It's called the Service Patrol. Washington State Patrol (WSP) cadets and roving tow trucks will provide rapid assistance to motorists by patrolling key highway segments during peak commute hours. They will move disabled vehicles and their occupants to safe locations, remove debris from the roadway, and resolve other problems (i.e., providing a jump start or helping with a tire change). Once a vehicle is at a safe location clear of the roadway, motorists have the option to request a tow - at their expense - or make their own arrangements for removal of their vehicle.

The Service Patrol is another effort by the Washington State Department of Transportation (WSDOT), WSP, and the Washington Tow Truck Association, which demonstrates our commitment to finding new ways to reduce traffic delays.



Watch for the Service Patrol logo.



Roving tow trucks will patrol during peak commute hours Monday through Friday in Seattle on I-5 between Corson-Michigan Street and Mercer Street, and in Tacoma on I-5 between 38th Street and the Port of Tacoma Road in the morning, and between the SR 16 Interchange and SR 512 Interchange in the afternoon.

WSP cadets will patrol during peak commute hours Monday through Friday north and southbound I-5 in Seattle from Roanoke Street to 130th Street, including all ramps, the Express Lanes, and collector distributors. They will also patrol west and eastbound SR 16, from I-5 to 24th Street, including all ramps and collector distributors.

OTHER WAYS WE'RE KEEPING TRAFFIC MOVING

WSDOT Incident Response Teams provide 24-hour, on-call support to the WSP for major road-blocking incidents.

WSDOT Tow Truck Patrols are on the Lake Washington floating bridges (I-90 and SR 520) during peak commute times.

WSDOT on-line freeway cameras and traffic flow maps help you view your route and plan your travel in advance.

www.wsdot.wa.gov

APPENDIX C SERVICE PATROL ASSIST FORM AND SURVEY

W	SDOT	S	ervi	ce Pat	rol	As	sist F	orm	
Your Name			Agenc	y/Compan	y		Month	Day	Year
Location of	Disable	d Vel	hicle:						
Hwy			Lan	е Туре			Lane	Number	
Direction			Mainline HOV	On-rar	np mp	□ Rig □ Lan □ Lan	ht Should ne 1 ne 2	er 🗆 Land 🗆 Land 🗆 Left	e 4 e 5 Shoulder
MP/St			Express	Lane		🗆 Lan	ne 3		
Time logs f	or your r	espc	onse:						
Detection	/Notificat	ion							
Subject was Information Other:	s found by y	you by WS	Г SP Т — Т	'ime you dete 'ime you arri 'ime road cle 'ime you dep	ected ved a ared, arted	or being at the sco , vehicle l from th	g notified ene out of tra ne assisted	vel lane vehicle	
Check all th	nat apply								
Cause	Pro	oblen	1						
 Disabled Accident Injury Accident Debris Pedestrian Fire UTL Other: 	Fue Tir Mee Ov Ele Ab Ble Ott	el echani echani ectrica andon ocking ner:	cal : i ed	 Push: a) Tow: a) Assist Clear off Transport Call addititib) own Call for a c) Photos tak 	 off off off off er rec sssist Γ; dj en 	f fwy, f fwy, f fwy, tow ser quested a) □ W) □ Oth	(tow name (SP; b) [uer:	 b) a to sho c) a to sho <lic) a="" li="" sho<="" to=""> <lic) a="" li="" sho<="" to=""> c) a to sho c)</lic)></lic)>	ulder ulder w;)
				□ Other:					
Description	of disat	oled	vehicle						_
Vehicle I	License	N0.	State	Color		Make			N
Vehicle II									

WSDOT Service Patrol Survey



Dear Motorist: Assistance from this WSDOT Service Patrol is provided to you free of charge by the Washington State Department of Transportation. It is designed to reduce traffic congestion during your daily commute. To help us improve the service, please take a moment to answer these survey questions and mail the form back. No postage is necessary.

No gratuities or payments will be accepted by WSDOT Service Patrol drivers. In addition, they cannot recommend secondary tow operators.

1.	How	did	the	WSDOT	Service	Patrol	know	you needed	assistance?	

	\Box_4 Other:		\square_3 State Pa	itrol assistanc
2.	How long did you wait for Ser \Box_1 Less than 5 minutes \Box_4 20-30 minutes	vice Patrol assistance? 2 5-10 minutes 5 30-40 minutes	\square_3 10-20 m \square_6 Longer	ninutes
3.	If the Service Patrol moved yo	ur car to a safe area, how	w long did you	
	waft 407 additional help? \Box_1 Less than 15 minutes \Box_4 45-60 minutes \Box_7 No more help is needed	\square_2 15-30 minutes \square_5 60-90 minutes	\square_3 30-45 m \square_6 Longer	ninutes
4.	If you needed a secondary tow	, what company did you	choose and wh	y?
5.	What was the Service Patrol d	river's attitude toward y	ou while provi	ding assistar
5. 6.	What was the Service Patrol d Overall, how would you rate th 1 Excellent 2 Good	river's attitude toward y he service?	vou while provid	ding assistar
5. 6. 7.	What was the Service Patrol d Overall, how would you rate th 1 Excellent 2 Good How did you know about the S	river's attitude toward y he service?	ou while provid	ding assistar
5. 6. 7.	What was the Service Patrol d Overall, how would you rate th 1 Excellent 2 Good How did you know about the S 1 Newspaper	river's attitude toward y he service? a 3 Fair Service Patrol Program? a 2 Radio	a 4 Poor	ding assistar

0010-0732 13M

20000





BUSINESS

U

MAII

FIRST CLASS MAIL

PERMIT NO. 155

OLYMPIA, WA

POSTAGE WILL BE PAID BY ADDRESSEE



Assist Form and Survey